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About IBF
Raising Competencies, Inspiring Excellence,
Celebrating Distinction

T

he financial industry has been witness to many changes in
the past few years. Investing in professional development
is crucial so as to renew confidence in the standards of
the industry, and raise the competency and ethical standards
of its practitioners.
Since its inception in 1974, The Institute of Banking &
Finance (IBF) has driven key initiatives to raise professional
competencies so as to enhance Singapore’s position as a worldclass financial centre and financial training hub. In 2005,
IBF launched the Financial Industry Competency Standards
(FICS), taking on its current role of setting the standards for
the training and development of financial sector professionals
in Singapore. FICS is now recognised as an independent quality
assurance mark to measure the competency of the financial
sector workforce.
For 2012/2013, IBF has adopted the theme “Raising
Competencies, Inspiring Excellence, Celebrating Distinction”
to recognise the efforts that the industry has taken to raise
professional standards and competencies.

Mission and Objectives
Mission
To develop a responsive, forward-looking financial sector training
infrastructure that positions Singapore as a world-class financial
centre and financial training hub.

Objectives
Manpower Development
To achieve the highest standards of financial workforce
competence in line with world-class standards.
Quality of Training Providers
To establish the benchmark for the provision of top quality
financial training and education and to attract and develop a pool
of credible, high quality and internationally-recognised financial
training providers.
Catalyst for Best Practices in Singapore’s Financial Sector
To promote continuous learning and training among financial
institutions.
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Chairman’s Statement
Raising Competencies, Inspiring Excellence,
Celebrating Distinction
Singapore’s financial centre is riding the wave of
a growing Asia. This has placed strong demands
on the financial sector workforce – to be more
competent, to excel, and to be distinct.
Among Singapore’s economic sectors, the
financial sector has one of the highest demands
for skills and expertise. We need specialists in
commodities trading, infrastructure financing,
wealth management, and information technology.
We need relationship managers and product
specialists to serve not just the high-net worth
wealth segment, but also the banking and financing
needs of growing Asian corporations. The demand
for risk and compliance professionals continues to
escalate, with the raising of regulatory standards
and heightened emphasis on risk management.
Financial controllers with deep industry and product
knowledge, as well as audit and tax professionals,
will also be much sought after.
Amidst this increasing demand for skilled workforce,
IBF continues to play an important role in raising
the competency levels of the Singapore financial
sector. Let me highlight some of IBF’s efforts in
2012/2013.
• As at end-2012, IBF has accredited 350
programmes under the Financial Industry
Competency Standards (FICS). More than 11,000
individuals have been trained under FICS, with
over 4,800 of them assessed. More than 1,600
individuals were certified.
• The Private Banking industry introduced a
new common assessment, the Client Advisor
Competency Standards (CACS), in September
2011. As at the end of the transition period on
28 February 2013, a total of 2,433 client-facing
advisors have passed CACS and 1,205 have
completed the Non-Examinable Course. This
represents 97% of the applicable private banking
professionals who have successfully passed CACS
within the transition period.
• With effect from 1 March 2013, private banking
professionals will also have to clock a minimum
of 15 Continuing Professional Development
(CPD) hours in each calendar year. IBF has been
appointed the administrator for CACS CPD and
has been working to introduce programmes to
maintain the high professional standards of the
private banking industry.
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• In January 2012, IBF launched the new Capital
Markets and Financial Advisory Services (CMFAS)
Examination Module 6A for representatives who
deal in Specified Investment Products (SIPs). As
at end-2012, 3,372 representatives have passed
Module 6A. To provide further assistance to
representatives, IBF launched the CMFAS Module
6A Preparatory Course, with the support of the
Singapore Exchange and the Securities Association

of Singapore (SAS), to guide candidates who require
structured training to prepare for the examination.
As at end-2012, close to 100 candidates have
undertaken the Preparatory Course.
• IBF was also appointed by the Singapore
Foreign Exchange Market Committee (SFEMC)
as the administrator for the Financial Markets
Regulatory and Practices (FMRP) certificate, a
common examination for market practitioners who
undertake wholesale treasury activities. As at end2012, 355 practitioners have taken the FMRP
Examination and another 388 practitioners have
completed the Non-Examinable Course.
In addition to the efforts in rolling out new competency
assessments for the industry, IBF also embarked
on a review of the FICS Framework and Standards
last year. With the help of PricewaterhouseCoopers
(PwC), IBF consulted extensively with the industry. I
am pleased to share the following key enhancements
to the FICS Framework:
(1) The FICS certification framework will be
recalibrated from the previous six certification
levels to four certification levels. This will reflect
competencies at Foundation, Intermediate,
Advanced and Expert levels. The streamlined
certification levels better reflect the career
progression and competency development
pathways for a financial practitioner as he or she
progresses in the financial industry.
(2) New entrants with no prior financial sector
experience will now be considered for certification
at the foundation level, as long as they undergo
FICS training and assessments. IBF will be
working with the following training providers
to introduce new foundation programmes for
Wealth Management, Corporate Banking and
Compliance.
• Financial Training Institute (FTI)@SMU
• International Compliance Training Academy
• Swiss Asia Banking School (Asia)
• Wealth Management Institute
(3) IBF will work with industry veterans to better
capture their experiences into FICS case-studies
and training resources. FICS will be revised to
allow senior executives with more than 15 years
of experience to be certified based on peerreview of their industry contributions rather than
formal assessments.
(4) The FICS Standards will be updated to be
aligned with the revised certification levels. The
revised standards will better define the core
competencies required at the different levels
and give clearer guidance on the performance
criteria that a certified professional should fulfil
to demonstrate his competency.
This year, IBF also welcomed its 6th cadre
of Distinguished Financial Industry Certified
Professionals (DFICPs) and 2nd batch of Friends
of FICS. These Awards serve to recognise the
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contributions of IBF’s partners and stakeholders
and honour financial institutions and senior industry
captains who have gone the extra mile in their
commitment to FICS and in their demonstration of
professional excellence. I would like to extend my
congratulations to the 10 individuals who now join
an illustrious honour roll of over 70 DFICPs, as well
as our Friends of FICS Winners.
As part of our ongoing effort to further build and
engage the FICS Community, IBF has also launched
a new series entitled The FICS Connect. The FICS
Connect provides a platform for FICS-certified
professionals and industry practitioners to network
and discuss new developments in the industry. We
have organised The FICS Connect events for the
Compliance and Corporate Banking segments in the
past year and are slated to organise more sessions
for the private banking and other segments. I look
forward to seeing our DFICPs contribute more
actively in this important area.
I would like to thank Anil Das, Clarence Tang and
Loh Boon Chye, who have made strong contributions
to the IBF Council and stepped down in 2012/13. I
warmly welcome to the IBF Council, Aw Tuan Kee,
Goh Eng Ghee, Guan Yeow Kwang, and Philip Lee.
We have also appointed Shirish Apte to chair the IBF
Audit Committee, and Magnus Bocker to lead a new
FICS Branding and Marketing Workgroup. I would
also like to express my thanks to the continuing
efforts of the FICS Steering Committee led by Wee
Ee Cheong, and also the IBF Investment Committee
led by Ray Ferguson.
I look forward to all of our Members’ support and
partnership in the coming year. Let us be relentless
in our drive to train and equip ourselves for the
financial centre of the future. FICS must remain
the bellwether for the industry, to maintain the
high standards of competency expected of every
financial services practitioner. Raise our personal
competency. Inspire professional excellence.
Celebrate industry distinction.
Ravi Menon
Chairman, IBF
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IBF COUNCIL MEMBERS (as at 31 May 2013)
The IBF Council provides guidance on the strategic direction of IBF to ensure that it remains relevant
and adds value to the financial industry. It is made up of representatives from financial institutions, trade
associations and governmental agencies.

Ravi Menon

Wee Ee Cheong

Ray Ferguson

Goh Eng Ghee

Magnus Bocker

Lester Gray

Piyush Gupta

Christopher Ho

Karine Kam

Chairman of IBF Council;
Managing Director
Monetary Authority of Singapore

Member of Audit Committee;
Deputy Chief Executive,
Infrastructure Group
Singapore Workforce Development
Agency
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Chairman
Association of Banks in Singapore
(ABS);
CEO and Director
DBS Group Holdings and
DBS Bank Ltd

Vice Chairman of IBF Council;
Chairman of FICS Steering
Committee;
Deputy Chairman and CEO
United Overseas Bank Limited

Member of Investment Committee;
CEO
Singapore Exchange Limited (SGX)

Chairman
Singapore Reinsurers’ Association
(SRA);
Head of Singapore Office and
Chairman of Client Relationships,
Asia and Pacific
Partner Reinsurance Europe SE

Chairman of Investment Committee;
Vice Chairman of FICS Steering
Committee;
CEO, Singapore
Standard Chartered Bank

Member of Investment Committee;
Chairman
Investment Management
Association of Singapore (IMAS);
Chairman, Asia Pacific
Schroder Investment Management
(S) Ltd

Executive Director
Singapore College of Insurance
Limited

INT R OD UC TION
Ong Chong Tee

Guan Yeow Kwang

Derek Teo

Shirish Apte

Samuel Tsien

Philip Lee

Deputy Managing Director
Monetary Authority of Singapore

Chairman of Audit Committee;
Chairman, Asia Pacific
Citibank NA

Member of Audit Committee;
Chairman
Sub-committee on Manpower
Development
Singapore Foreign Exchange
Market Committee (SFEMC);
Senior Joint General Manager
Asia & Oceania Division
Mizuho Corporate Bank, Ltd

Group Chief Executive Officer
Oversea-Chinese Banking
Corporation Limited

President
General Insurance Association of
Singapore (GIA);
Consultant
AIG Asia Pacific Insurance Pte Ltd

Vice Chairman for South-east Asia
Chief Country Officer for Singapore
Deutsche Bank AG
(effective 8 July 2013)

Council Members who
have stepped down
Loh Boon Chye

Deputy President for Asia Pacific
Head of Asia Pacific Global Markets
Country Executive for Singapore/Southeast Asia
Bank of America Merrill Lynch

Anil Das

Senior Director
Singapore Workforce Development Agency

Aw Tuan Kee

Director
Higher Education Finance
Ministry of Education

Clarence Tang

Director, HR Solutions & Capabilities (Designate)
Ministry of Education
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Examinations & Assessments
Capital Markets And Financial Advisory Services
(CMFAS) Examinations

I

n 2012, a total of 11,876 candidates
enrolled for the CMFAS examination modules
conducted by IBF. This represents a 27.3%
increase from the 9,328 candidates in 2011. The
higher enrolment is due to the transitional load of
candidates who are required to take the CMFAS
Module 6A Examination: Securities and Futures

Product Knowledge which was introduced on 1
January 2012 to raise the competency standards
of Representatives who are dealing in Specified
Investment Products (SIPs). A breakdown of the
examination registration by the various CMFAS
modules is given in the chart below.

M-1A

M-1B

M-2A

M-2B

M-3

M-4A

M4-B

M-6

M6-A

M-7*

M-10

2011

1404

2430

455

98

898

947

72

2530

–

345

149

2012

759

1387

239

57

850

555

82

1192

6656

–

99

*CMFAS Module 7 (Future Products and Analysis) was discontinued and replaced by CMFAS Module 6A (Securities and
Futures Product Knowledge) from 1 January 2012.

“All of us working in the securities and futures industry should see ourselves as a
profession and not just as a vocation. To be a profession, we need to be constantly
updating ourselves or undergoing continuing professional education. There will
always be new developments and products in the industry, new laws, regulations
and rules that affect our professional work; as well as new professional standards
and ethics to adhere to. New aspirants to the industry must be prepared for this
need to undergo continuing professional education.”
Loh Hoon Sun | Managing Director, Phillip Securities Pte Ltd, DFICP 2007

“Module 6A is a key plank in ensuring technical proficiency of professionals within
our industry.
In a single module, the CMFAS Representative is able to learn more about a
wide coverage of topics relevant to everyday trading. These include technical and
fundamental analysis, product features of derivatives, OTC, ETF and a wide range
of other structured products including CFDs, ES and other knock-out products.
Apart from being a professional imperative, every practicing representative would
benefit greatly from the knowledge gained from undergoing the course. Module 6A
is really a key to financial enlightenment.”
Senior Executive Director, UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd, DFICP 2013 | Esmond Choo

“M6A is a tough paper as it requires knowledge on financial instruments beyond
my usual scope of work. From an educational point of view, the extra knowledge
has broadened my understanding and perspective of the financial market, I hope
that will assist me in speaking to my clients professionally.”

8

Lieu Teck Hua | Trading Representative, Phillip Securities Pte Ltd

The CMFAS Module 6A thus helps to raise the level of professionalism and the level
of competence, providing useful guidance in the new investment environment.
Trading representatives are professionally better placed to guide their clients on
the salient features, risks and rewards and help clients to better manage their
expectations of the performance of these Structured Products.
Learning is ultimately a life-long process and we have to keep abreast with the
developments in the market place.”
Dealer, Lim & Tan Securities Pte Ltd | Lim Khoon Huat

CMFAS Module 6A Preparatory Course

I

BF launched the CMFAS Module 6A Preparatory
Course in September 2012 to help candidates
who require more structured training to prepare
for the CMFAS Module 6A Examination. The course
covers the characteristics of securities and futures,
such as futures, options, structured products,
contracts for differences, knock-out products, as

well as the tools and techniques to analyse these
products. As at end-2012, IBF has conducted
3 sessions of the Preparatory Course for 91
candidates. The Preparatory Course will be made
available until the end of the transition period for
Representatives to pass the M6A Examination by
30 June 2013.

“The CMFAS Module 6A Preparatory course gave me the skills, tools and knowledge
necessary to pass the module 6A examination. One of the most useful tools was the
sample exams. The course lecturers and their hands-on experience also made the
course very interesting. I truly enjoyed the course.

R A I S I N G C O M P ETEN C I ES • EX A MIN ATIO N S A N D A S S ES S MEN TS

“CMFAS Module 6A provides comprehensive and valuable understanding of the
risks and rewards embedded in the features of a vast array of structured products.
Clients are now more educated and experienced and seek more information when
considering investing in such products.

By passing the examination, I am more confident to advise my clients on SIP. It also
keeps me on my toes on the development of new instruments that are available in
the market. As a financial professional, it is paramount that we understand how such
complex products are structured, so that we can highlight the complexity and the
inherent risk when recommending SIP to our clients.”
Ben Fok | Chief Executive Officer, Grandtag Financial Consultancy (Singapore) Pte Ltd

“Lessons and exercises covered are pertinent to the array of current investment products offered in the
market. The lessons were well delivered through experienced lecturers who are experts in their field, and
who reduce the technicalities to concise concepts.”
Brokerage Officer | Tan Choon Song
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Client Advisor Competency
Standards (CACS)

U

nder the Private Banking (PB) Code,
private banking professionals (or “Covered
Persons”) are expected to pass a common
competency assessment called the Client Advisor
Competency Standards (CACS) before they provide
any financial advice.
With the implementation of the CACS in September
2011, Covered Persons were given an 18-month

transition period to pass the CACS or complete
a Non-Examinable Course (NEC). At the end
of the transition period on 28 February 2013, a
total of 2,433 client-facing advisors have passed
CACS and 1,205 have completed the NEC. This
represents 97% of the applicable private banking
professionals who have successfully passed CACS
within the transition period.

“CACS has been instrumental in closing knowledge gaps for Client Advisors with
less than 15 years’ experience. This has also helped achieve consistency and higher
standards across the industry.
The CACS qualification sets a high standard of knowledge and professionalism for
Client Advisors, which in turn serves the clients’ best interest, and fulfills their
sophisticated needs.”
Rajesh Malkani | Managing Director, Head of North & South East Asia,
Standard Chartered Private Bank, DFICP 2013
“The CACS has broadened and deepened the competencies of RMs by clearly
defining the body of knowledge, whether it’s market conduct standards, industry or
product knowledge, that is required. The CPD aspect of the CACS also ensures that
RMs are constantly upgrading their skills and knowledge, so that they stay relevant
in the industry.
The CACS provides greater transparency to clients, and has increased clients’
confidence in the quality of advice that they receive from their advisors, in turn
leading to the deepening of client relationships.”
Managing Director, Group Head of Consumer Banking and of Wealth Management | Tan Su Shan
DBS Bank Ltd, DFICP 2012		

“Clients increasingly, expect their Private Bankers to be their trusted advisors.
As an industry, we require a steadfast commitment to the highest standards of
competencies and conduct, to meet, and preferably exceed, these expectations.”
Deepak Sharma | Chairman – Citi Private Bank, DFICP 2008
“CACS has definitely served as an important step towards raising the level of
professionalism in the Singapore wealth management sector. Under CACS,
client-facing persons who provide financial advice to clients are required to
be assessed against an objective benchmark where they are required to have a
holistic appreciation of the financial advisory process, including relevant product
competencies, applicable rules and regulations as well as industry best practices.
CACS is beneficial as it provides clients with the assurance that they are being
served by professionals who fulfill the requisite level of competency and market
conduct standards and continue to stay current through the continuous professional
development framework.”
Executive Director & Chief Executive Officer, Wealth Management Institute | Cynthia Teong
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F

rom 1 March 2013 onwards, Covered
Persons under the PB Code are to achieve a
minimum 15 hours of Continuing Professional
Development (“CPD”) in each calendar year after
passing CACS. The CACS CPD requirements ensure
that Covered Entities and their Covered Persons
providing financial advisory services to High Net
Worth Individuals (“HNWIs”) conduct their business
activities with integrity and professionalism
and ensure that they possess a requisite level of
competence and knowledge.
To oversee the smooth implementation of
the CACS CPD, a CACS CPD Advisory Group

was also formed to provide guidance on the
implementation of CACS CPD and on the topics
and coverage deemed suitable for the CPD
needs of the private banking industry. Led by
Mr Peter Flavel, Chief Executive Officer, Asia –
Private Wealth Management, J.P. Morgan, the
Advisory Group comprises 10 senior representatives
who oversee the private banking business, product
development, compliance and learning and
development functions in the key private banks.
The industry has been responding positively and has
been actively preparing a robust CPD programme
to support their private bankers’ professional
development.

Financial Markets Regulatory
& Practices (FMRP) Certificate

O

n 28 June 2012, the Singapore Foreign
Exchange Market Committee (SFEMC)
announced the introduction of a professional
certification programme, the Financial Markets
Regulatory & Practices (FMRP) certificate.
The FMRP Certificate Programme replaces the
Examination on Treasury activities which was
withdrawn in August 2012.
The FMRP Certificate Programme sets the
minimum competency standards and provides a
common yardstick to assess wholesale dealers

and brokers in Singapore. It focuses on assessing
the dealer/broker’s understanding of wholesale
dealing practices and market conduct based on the
“Singapore Guide to Conduct & Market Practices
for Treasury Activities”, (commonly referred to as
“The Blue Book”), as well as relevant Singapore
laws and regulations.

R A I S I N G C O M P ETEN C I ES • EX A MIN ATIO N S A N D A S S ES S MEN TS

Continuing Professional
Development (CPD)

IBF is the appointed official administrator of the
FMRP Certificate programme. As at end-2012,
355 practitioners have taken and passed the FMRP
Examination and another 388 practitioners have
completed the Non-Examinable Course.
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FICS Steering Committee
Chairman
Wee Ee Cheong
Deputy Chairman & CEO
United Overseas Bank Limited

FICS WORKING GROUPS

Vice Chairman
Ray Ferguson
CEO, Singapore
Standard Chartered Bank

Chairperson
Eric Tham
United Overseas Bank Limited

Members
Magnus Bocker
CEO
Singapore Exchange Limited
Mack Eng
Country President
ACE Insurance Limited
Guan Yeow Kwang
Senior Joint General Manager
Mizuho Corporate Bank Ltd
Azzli Jamain
Director, Creative & Professional Services Division
Singapore Workforce Development Agency
Gilbert Kohnke
Chief Risk Officer & Executive Vice President
Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited
Loh Hoon Sun
Managing Director
Phillip Securities Pte Ltd
Dr Aaron Low
Principal, Lumen Advisors LLC,
Lumen Investments LLC
Managing Director, Lumen Advisors (Asia) Pte Ltd
Ong Puay See
Chief Executive Officer, IBF
Director, Strategic Development Division
Monetary Authority of Singapore
Tee Fong Seng
Vice Chairman of Private Banking, Asia Pacific
Credit Suisse AG
Lily Teo
Managing Director
Head of Legal & Compliance, Asia Pacific
UniCredit Bank AG
Peter Teo
Head (Compliance)
NTUC Income Insurance Co-Operative Limited
Eric Tham
Managing Director & Head
Group Commercial Banking
United Overseas Bank Limited
Members who stepped down
Dennis Khoo
Global Head, Personal & Preferred Banking
Standard Chartered Bank
Kong Siew Cheong
Former Chief Marketing Officer
Lion Global Investors Ltd
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Corporate Banking

Members
Ronny Chng
United Overseas Bank Limited
Irene Chua
HSBC
Anand Kumar
Standard Chartered Bank
Elaine Lam
Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited
Lee Swee Siong
Standard Chartered Bank
Lim Wee Seng
DBS Bank Ltd
Soh Kian Tiong
DBS Bank Ltd
Yeo How Ngee
DBS Bank Ltd

Corporate Finance
Chairperson
Loh Hoon Sun
Phillip Securities Pte Ltd
Members
Chew Sutat
Singapore Exchange Ltd
Eng-Kwok Seat Moey
DBS Bank Ltd
Clement Leow
Partners Capital (Singapore) Pte Ltd
Gerald Ong
PrimePartners Corporate Finance Pte Ltd
T K Yap, CFA
OCBC Securities

Fund Management

Chairperson
Lily Teo
UniCredit Bank AG

Members
John Doyle
UOB Asset Management Ltd

Members
Andrew Chow
Wong Partnership

Andrew Kwek

Angelina Foo Sing Kin
Singapore Exchange Ltd
Goh Siew Lian
Citibank Singapore Limited
Koh Wan Tsyr
Prudential Assurance Company Singapore (Pte Ltd)
Lam Chee Kin
Standard Chartered Bank

Michael Lim
Investment Management Association of Singapore
Teo Joo Wah
Fullerton Fund Management Company Ltd
Thio Boon Kiat
UOB Asset Management Ltd

General Insurance

Conrad Lim
LGT Bank (Singapore) Ltd

Chairperson
Mack Eng
ACE Insurance Limited

Lim Siew Lee
DBS Bank Ltd

Members
Kenrick Law
Asia Capital Reinsurance Group Pte Ltd

Fairlen Ooi Chooi Ting
United Overseas Bank Limited
Sainava Bee Bee
Great Eastern Life Assurance Co Ltd
Karen Tiah
Allen & Gledhill LLP
Wong Foong Har
CIMB Bank

Lisa Marbon
AXA Insurance Singapore Pte Ltd
Shirley Ow
QBE Insurance (International) Ltd
Jenny Pe
NTUC Income Insurance Co-Operative Limited
Noel Tan
Federal Insurance Company

Financial Markets

Sam Tan
AIG Asia Pacific Insurance Pte Ltd

Chairperson
Guan Yeow Kwang
Mizuho Corporate Bank Ltd

Life Insurance

Co-chairperson
Dr Aaron Low
Lumen Advisors LLC

Chairperson
Peter Teo
NTUC Income Insurance Co-Operative Limited

Members
Ching Wei Hong
Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited

Members
Daniel Chong
AXA Life Insurance Singapore

Ng Kwan Meng
United Overseas Bank Limited

Christine Ng
AIA Singapore Private Limited

Ooi Boon Peng
Prudential Asset Management (Singapore) Limited

Karen Shee
Prudential Assurance Company Singapore (Pte Ltd)

Jan Richards

Yvonne Wu
AXA Life Insurance Singapore

INS P IR I N G E X C E L L E N C E • F I N A N CI A L I N D U S TRY C O MP ETEN C Y S TA N D A R D S ( F IC S )

Compliance
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Risk Management

Wealth Management

Chairperson
Gilbert Kohnke
Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited

Chairperson
Tee Fong Seng
Credit Suisse AG

Members
Choo Koon San
Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited

Members
Peter Flavel
J.P. Morgan

Noel D’Cruz
Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited

Ms Anthonia Hui
AL Wealth Partners Pte Ltd

Goh Geok Cheng
Prudential Assurance Company Singapore (Pte Ltd)

Kong Eng Huat
EFG Bank AG

Lim Him Chuan
DBS Bank Ltd

Lawrence Lua
DBS Bank Ltd

Frankie Phua Peng Yeo
United Overseas Bank Limited

Rajesh Malkani
Standard Chartered Private Bank

Jill Smith
Manulife Asset Management (Singapore) Pte Ltd

Christine Ong
UBS AG

Joseph Wong
Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited

Jessica Poh
Citi Private Bank
Shantini Ramachandra
PricewaterhouseCoopers Services LLP
Annette C S Sui
HSBC Trustee (Singapore) Ltd
Celine Tan
Portcullis Trust (Singapore) Ltd
Julie Teo
British and Malayan Trustees Limited
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Revamp of FICS and Introduction of
new Foundation Programmes

L

aunched in 2005, FICS is an independent
quality assurance mark to measure the
competency of the financial sector workforce
and provides a practice-oriented approach to talent
development. In May 2012, Deputy Prime Minister
Tharman Shanmugaratnam announced plans for
IBF to undertake a fundamental review of the FICS
Standards. Working with PricewaterhouseCoopers,
IBF consulted extensively with the industry to
enhance several key aspects of the FICS framework,
namely:
1. The FICS certification framework will be
recalibrated from the previous six certification
levels to four certification levels. This will reflect
competencies at Foundation, Intermediate,
Advanced and Expert levels. The streamlined
certification levels better reflect the career
progression and competency development pathways
for a financial practitioner as he or she progresses
in the financial industry.
2. New entrants with no prior financial sector
experience will now be considered for certification
at the foundation level, as long as they undergo FICS
training and assessments. IBF will be working with
the following training providers to introduce new
foundation programmes for Wealth Management,
Corporate Banking and Compliance:

•
•
•
•

Financial Training Institute (FTI) @SMU
International Compliance Training Academy
Swiss Asia Banking School (Asia)
Wealth Management Institute

The new Foundation Programmes will be launched
by Q4 2013, in time for financial institutions
to incorporate them into their 2014 training
calendar.
3. IBF will work with industry veterans to better
capture their experiences into FICS case-studies
and training resources. The FICS will be revised
to allow senior experienced executives with more
than 15 years of experience to be certified based
on peer-review of their industry contributions rather
than formal assessments.
4. The FICS Standards will be updated to be
aligned with the revised certification levels.
The revised standards will better define the core
competencies required at the different levels and
give clearer guidance on the performance criteria
that a certified professional should fulfill to
demonstrate his competency. The changes to the
FICS Framework will provide greater clarity on the
relevant certification pathways to guide a financial
sector professional in upgrading his skills for career
advancement. The detailed FICS Standards will be
released by IBF before the end of 2013.

“At the Institute of Banking and Finance (IBF), our aim is to enhance capabilities
in the financial sector and build a robust talent pipeline to support the growth
of the industry. Over the years, we have invested heavily in this effort, providing
training grants for a broad range of programmes. This most important of IBF’s
programmes is the Financial Industry Competency Standards (FICS).”

INS P IR I N G E X C E L L E N C E • F I N A N CI A L I N D U S TRY C O MP ETEN C Y S TA N D A R D S ( F IC S )

RAISING COMPETENCIES AND
INSPIRING EXCELLENCE VIA FICS

Ravi Menon | Chairman of IBF Council; Managing Director, Monetary Authority of Singapore
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2012 FICS Scorecard

2

012 has seen slower training and assessment
numbers as compared to 2011 possibly in part
due to the volatile market environment and
slow-down in hiring. However, the continuous effort

to work closely with financial institutions to promote
FICS certification to eligible staff contributed to an
increase in the number of individuals applying for
FICS certification.

358

Number of
FICS-Accredited Programmes

Number of Accredited Providers

Number of Financial Institutions
which adopted FICS as part of their
training / assessment programme

364

350

2010

2011

28

28

2010

2011

2012

247

247

2011

2012

225

2010

2012

21

11871
9433
6016

Number of individuals trained
under an FICS-accredited programme

2010

2011

2012
4898

4069
2611

Number of individuals
who have been assessed under FICS

2010

2011

2012
1624

1203

Number of individuals
who are FICS-certified
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With the strong support of MAS and WDA as well
as close collaboration with the industry, FICS
has gained recognition as an independent quality
assurance mark to measure competency of the
financial sector workforce. The increasing number

326
2010

2011

2012

of FICS-certified individuals as well as financial
institutions which have adopted FICS as part of
their training and assessment programmes is a
strong vote of confidence in FICS.

27 JULY 2012

FICS GRADUATION CEREMONY
(WEALTH MANAGEMENT) – CREDIT SUISSE

C

redit Suisse has developed several in-house
FICS-accredited programmes to nurture a
pipeline of competent Wealth Advisors. The
bank’s FICS-accredited Frontline Training (FLT)
and Certification assessment programme equips
its practitioners with the skills and competencies

needed in today’s Wealth Management industry. At
the graduation ceremony in 2012, over 90 private
bankers graduated from the fourth wave of Credit
Suisse’s FLT programme. This underlines Credit
Suisse’s belief in continued investment in talent
and training.

“The programme helped increase and refresh my knowledge of banking products
and banking processes. The refresher classes were helpful in providing updates and
changes to various topics. The knowledge gained through the programme has made
me more confident in my job.”
Josephine Wang Geak Li | Assistant Relationship Manager, Credit Suisse AG
FICS-Certified in Wealth Management: Relationship Management (High Net Worth) Job Role III, May 2012
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GRADUATION CEREMONIES

“The programme provided a structured and cohesive approach through which I
was able to apply the skills I acquired from practice. I was able to re-assess, reconsider, question and re-affirm the nuances of my role as a client-facing employee
within private banking.
The programme has given me further confidence to carry out my role and
responsibilities well, which includes the quality of service provided to clients.”
Assistant Relationship Manager, Credit Suisse AG | Prashanth Shankar Nithianantham
FICS-Certified in Wealth Management: Relationship Management (High Net Worth) Job Role III, May 2012

“The knowledge that we were tested on is very important and beneficial, and has
added value to my work area. When I execute certain trades (for example options
or derivatives), I am able to understand the mechanics of it, rather than just taking
instructions and executing it. Knowing how the different products work makes my
job as an Assistant Relationship Manager more interesting and enriching.
Keep on upgrading yourself, and gain as much knowledge as possible, as learning
is a lifetime journey!”
Agnes Chong Siew Ching | Assistant Relationship Manager, Credit Suisse AG
FICS-Certified in Wealth Management: Relationship Management (High Net Worth) Job Role III, May 2012
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GRADUATION CEREMONIES (CONT’D)
21 NOVEMBER 2012

FICS GRADUATION CEREMONY
(WEALTH MANAGEMENT) – UNITED OVERSEAS BANK

A

s part of its commitment to grow its pool of
in-house talent, UOB has trained over 250
Relationship Managers under the SMU-UOB
Advanced Diploma in Private Banking and the SMUUOB Executive Certificate in Wealth Management.
This is the fifth year that the bank has conducted

these wealth management programmes for its staff.
With these two customised FICS-accredited training
programmes, UOB has equipped its relationship
managers with the skill sets to meet the needs of
its customers across the entire wealth management
spectrum.

“Throughout the 5 modules under the program, I come to realise that theoretical
knowledge combined with practical experience enables me to develop new ways to
better my business. This will never be possible without the various lecturers, who
are experienced practitioners in their respective fields; sharing on how to apply
what we have learnt in the real world.”
Jon Lim Su Guan | Senior Vice President, Head, Client Acquisition, Privilege Banking,
United Overseas Bank Limited

13 DECEMBER 2012

GRADUATION CEREMONY (COMPLIANCE) – ICA

T
20

he International Compliance Association (ICA)
is a leading global provider of professional
certificated qualifications and training in anti
money laundering (AML), compliance and fraud/
financial crime prevention. Several of its courses

are FICS-accredited, including the FICS-accredited
ICA Graduate Diploma in Compliance. At the 2012
graduation ceremony, 14 students were awarded
the Graduate Diploma.

GRADUATION CEREMONY (WEALTH MANAGEMENT)
– WEALTH MANAGEMENT INSTITUTE

E

stablished in 2003, the Wealth Management
Institute (WMI) is Asia’s first educational
institution that specialises in wealth
management.
WMI offers an industry-driven approach in
developing future leaders of the wealth management
industry. WMI’s wide range of FICS-accredited
wealth management programmes incorporates
an Asian focus with global perspectives. Through
partnerships with key industry players, WMI aims
to help professionals upgrade their professional
competence and contribute to the regional growth
of the industry. A proud recipient of the first
FICS Inspiring Educator Award presented by the
Institute of Banking & Finance in 2012, WMI has

trained over 1500 participants of FICS-accredited
programmes in the last year.
Since the inception of the WMI Advanced
Certificate in Trust Services (ACTS) in 2010, over
70 participants have successfully graduated from
the programme which strives to equip practitioners
with advanced level knowledge and practical
techniques to help clients achieve their long-term
succession and wealth preservation objectives. 14
graduates received their certificates at a recent
ACTS Graduation Ceremony held in March 2013.
Graduates of this course who possess the requisite
experience can apply for FICS Certification in
Wealth Management: Trust Administration and/or
Trust & Estate Planning.

“The programme offered an in-depth and practical analysis of the various aspects
of wealth planning and trust administration. As a wealth advisor, it was particularly
useful to understand trust administration from an administrator’s perspective, and
how the advisory process can and should take into account the administration of a
structure going forward in the long run.”
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22 MARCH 2013

Tricia Chia Hwee Sze | Director, Wealth & Tax Planning Asia, Bank Julius Baer & Co. Ltd
FICS-Certified in Wealth Management: Trust & Estate Planning, Job Role V, March 2013

“It is not an everyday mundane job. Every trust is different and alive! Combine it
with strict regulations, one will never get bored on this job. It will keep one on his/
her toes. Keeping oneself updated in this industry is very crucial and there is no
room for complacency.”
Relationship Manager, Intertrust (Singapore) Ltd | Serene Lim
FICS-Certified in Wealth Management: Trust & Estate Planning, Job Role IV,
and Trust Administration, Job Role V, March 2013

“The programme has definitely equipped me with more knowledge, in-depth
analysis of the different aspects of the trust & estate administration as well as
promoted high-quality learning through the exchange of ideas and experiences of
various industry practitioners.”
Stella Uy | Wealth Planner, Bank of Singapore
FICS-Certified in Wealth Management: Trust & Estate Planning, Job Role IV, March 2013
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2013 DISTINGUISHED FICPs
Aspire. Inspire.
Behind every DFICP is a story of commitment to excellence.
A story that begins as an individual aspiration.
A story that has unfolded into an inspiration.

T

he Distinguished Financial Industry Certified
Professionals (DFICPs) are the epitome
of professional stature and achievement.
Like many, they were once aspiring practitioners.
Over the years, they have committed to achieving
professional excellence and competency through
the Financial Industry Competency Standards
(FICS) learning journey to become the captains
of the financial industry today. Each of these
distinguished individuals is now a beacon of
excellence and role model for other FICS-certified

practitioners and a testament that career passions
and aspirations can be realised for those who
have an unwavering commitment to competency
development and integrity.
This year’s listing brings to 73 the total number
of Distinguished FICPs awarded since the title was
first introduced in 2007.
The 10 senior practitioners who were conferred the
Distinguished FICP title in 2013 are:

CORPORATE BANKING

Relationship Management – Enterprise Banking
“Training and common assessments are important foundations for learning. An
environment that celebrates success goes a long way to building excellence in the
financial industry.”
Linus Goh | Executive Vice President, Head of Global Commercial Banking,
Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited

Relationship Management – Wholesale Banking
“Training is important and has to be the key emphasis for any organization to inspire
excellence. It must be an ongoing effort as this industry is dynamic and ever evolving.
Individually, one must be prepared to unlearn, learn and relearn. I believe no one has
a monopoly of knowledge and as such, one would benefit from having “mentors” in
various areas of expertise.”
Amos Tan Boon Lian | Managing Director, Institutional Banking Group, DBS Bank Ltd

CORPORATE FINANCE

Origination, Structuring & Advisory
“Excellence goes beyond financial and technical skills. Inspiring leadership
requires commitment to lead by example and striving to provide what is best
and right for customers.”
Kan Shik Lum | Managing Director, Head of Strategic Initiatives, Capital Markets, DBS Bank Ltd
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Trading
“I believe in leading by example. By ensuring high standards of risk and control and
diversifying revenue streams we have been able to consistently grow and recruit
world-class talent.”
Nitin Gulabani | Global Head of FX, Rates and Credit, Standard Chartered Bank

GENERAL INSURANCE

Underwriting
“In our rapidly evolving and robust financial landscape, there is no substitute for
continuous enhancement and acquisition of new skills and competency. I would
encourage every professional to seize learning at every opportunity, manifest
personal values and deliver excellent outcomes.”
Derek Teo | President, General Insurance Association of Singapore

PRIVATE EQUITY

“Since I was on the professional buyside since 1995, I find that I am constantly
evolving and re-inventing myself. Investment cycles have been getting shorter
and shorter and Asia is essentially made up of many communities with their own
complexities. Self-learning and reflection are keys in the industry.”
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FINANCIAL MARKETS

Tan Chin Hwee | Founding Partner in Asia, Apollo Management Singapore Pte Ltd

RISK MANAGEMENT

Credit Risk Management – Consumer Banking
“Learning is a lifelong journey and has become even more important for the financial
services industry today given the macro-economic challenges we face and the fast
changing regulatory environment. I do believe individuals and organisations have
to continue the emphasis on learning and adapting to be successful, and FICS has
an important role to play in this area.”
Anju Patwardhan | Chief Risk Officer, Singapore, Standard Chartered Bank
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SECURITIES AND FUTURES

Stockbroking
“Working in Committees with my younger colleagues has led to healthy exchanges
which encourages innovation, creativity and eventually excellence. Our industry
offers both tremendous opportunities and challenges with economic growth having
shifted east matched by many new entrants. Such interactions over time breed
fresh and great approaches to old issues.”
Esmond Choo | Senior Executive Director, UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd

WEALTH MANAGEMENT

Relationship Management – High Net Worth
“I look forward to sharing best practices and my experience with existing and
potential wealth management professionals. I will continue to drive the adoption
of highest standards within my own organisation and the industry, working closely
with regulators and industry associations in the formulation of standards that are
necessary to build a sustainable and responsible business.”
Rajesh Malkani | Managing Director, Head of North & South East Asia, Standard Chartered Private Bank

Relationship Management – Mass Affluent
“It is important that we lead by example, inspire trust, embody integrity, be fair
and transparent in serving our clients. Our on-going commitment and investment
in enhancing the professional and competency standards will continue to play an
instrumental role to build this trust with consumers.”
Han Kwee Juan | Chief Executive Officer, Citibank Singapore Limited
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T

he Friends of FICS award aims to confer recognition on IBF’s key partners and stakeholders who have
put in continuous effort and commitment to talent and human capital development via FICS.

FICS ASPIRE AWARD
This award recognises an FICS-certified graduand who achieved outstanding results in FICS training
programmes and has committed to raising his/her own competency through continual learning and
professional development via the FICS learning journey.

FICS INSPIRE AWARD
This award recognises financial institutions which have gone the extra mile in committing to FICS as part
of their learning journey and in driving FICS adoption numbers.

FICS INSPIRING EDUCATOR AWARD
This award recognises FICS-accredited training providers’ commitment to driving FICS adoption with the
financial industry and contribution towards new initiatives to raise the professional competency of the
financial sector workforce.
The recipients of these prestigious Friends of FICS Awards in 2013 are:

FICS ASPIRE AWARD

“FICS has built a foundation for my continued development in the dynamic banking
industry. This award encourages me to continue aspiring to be a successful banker
grounded in principles, integrity and values.”
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2013 FRIENDS OF FICS

Eugene Tan Kok Wei | Vice President, DBS Bank Ltd
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FICS INSPIRE AWARD
| CREDIT SUISSE AG

Francesco de Ferrari

Managing Director, Head of Private Banking Asia Pacific

Training Philosophy

B

y aligning our internal learning and
development initiatives with the FICS
framework, we ensure our Relationship
Managers and Assistant Relationship Managers
develop the required skills and competencies to
succeed in the Wealth Management industry.
Our FICS-accredited Frontline Training, which is
mandatory for all client-facing staff, allows them
to engage our clients in a more competent and
confident manner, and provides comprehensive
learning as well as development opportunities
aligned to industry standards.

“At Credit Suisse, our emphasis on
putting clients first is underpinned
by our continuous efforts in providing
client-facing employees with bestin-class training aligned to the FICS
Framework.”

About Credit Suisse

C

redit Suisse AG is one of the world’s leading
financial services providers and is part of the
Credit Suisse group of companies (referred
to here as ‘Credit Suisse’). As an integrated bank,
Credit Suisse is able to offer clients its expertise in
the areas of private banking, investment banking
and asset management from a single source.
Credit Suisse provides specialist advisory services,
comprehensive solutions and innovative products to
companies, institutional clients and high net worth
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private clients worldwide, and also to retail clients
in Switzerland. Credit Suisse is headquartered in
Zurich and operates in over 50 countries worldwide.
The group employs approximately 46,900 people.
The registered shares (CSGN) of Credit Suisse’s
parent company, Credit Suisse Group AG, are
listed in Switzerland and, in the form of American
Depositary Shares (CS), in New York. Further
information about Credit Suisse can be found at
www.credit-suisse.com.

INTERNATIONAL
COMPLIANCE ASSOCIATION

Andrew Glover
Regional Director

Training Philosophy

W

e believe in the value of partnerships. We
work with our students so that they can
achieve all that they set out to do. We
offer high quality training, an inclusive support
network, both local and international, and above
all, commitment.
We give our students the knowledge and skills that
enable them to fulfil their roles efficiently and
effectively. We understand that things change and
that financial practitioners need to adapt. So part
of our learning process is that we give our students
scenarios that test their decision making ability so
as to gain confidence to meet the challenges in the
real world.

“The FICS framework has provided
a common frame of reference for
knowledge and skills and allowed us to
focus on developing practice-oriented
and structured programmes for the
industry.”

About ICA

T

he International Compliance Association
(ICA) is the leading global provider of
professional certificated qualifications
and training in anti money laundering
(AML), compliance and fraud/financial crime
prevention. For novice and experienced
practitioners alike, the ICA certificate
and diploma courses are a benchmark of
excellence.
ICA’s internationally recognised qualifications,
which are awarded in association with the
prestigious University of Manchester Business
School, enhance the knowledge and skills of
individuals, improve business practice and
minimise risk.
ICA is a professional, awarding body with
a global membership. It was established
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FICS INSPIRING EDUCATOR AWARD

in 2001 and has since become one of the
leading providers of professional qualifications
in the realms of regulatory risk. Over 10,000
people have been through ICA’s internationally
recognised qualifications around the world
and these programmes have consequently
become a benchmark of professionalism and
excellence. The ICA has a presence in over
30 jurisdictions. Its headquarters are in the
UK and it has two regional offices, one in
Singapore and one in the Middle East, based
in Dubai.
ICA helps businesses, regulatory authorities,
government agencies and clients promote
best practice through education, dialogue,
information exchange and detailed resource
material. The ICA works with regulators and
other representative groups all over the world.
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FICS CONNECT

A

s a way to build and engage the FICS Community, IBF launched the FICS Connect series in 2012.
FICS Connect serves as an avenue for FICS-certified professionals to network, share experiences
and discuss industry developments.

The FICS Connect also serves as a platform for our DFICPs to act as mentors to the industry - to share their
insights and perspectives and offer their wisdom to other FICS-certified practitioners.
One of the key features for FICS Connect participants is the i-Connect portal on www.fics.org. i-Connect
allows participants to discuss issues, pose questions, and share insights on industry developments with
peers in a virtual environment as well as to view video highlights, enabling the discussion, networking and
FICS Learning Journey to continue beyond the confines of the event itself.

5 OCTOBER 2012

THE LIFE OF A COMPLIANCE OFFICER –
NEW CHALLENGES

T
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he inaugural FICS Connect session was held in October 2012. Entitled “The Life of a Compliance
Officer – New Challenges”, the event saw a turnout of over 80 practitioners from compliance and
risk management functions.

1. Ms Goh Siew Lian (Distinguished FICP 2010)
Country Compliance Officer,
Citi Singapore Limited;
2. Mrs Yvette Cheak (Distinguished FICP 2007)
Country Head of Ethics & Compliance Singapore
& SEA, BNP Paribas;
3. Mrs Malkit G Singh (Distinguished FICP 2008)
Director, Banking Department II,
Monetary Authority of Singapore;

1

2

3

4

4. Ms Sharon Craggs (Distinguished FICP 2012)
Head of Regions Compliance, SEA; Head of
Consumer Banking Legal and Compliance, SEA,
Standard Chartered Bank.

Industry practitioners took the opportunity to
exchange views with fellow compliance officers and
the speakers at the event.

Visit the FICS
Event gallery to
view video clips
of this event
h t t p : / / w w w.
fics.org.sg/
Events/eventsgallery/event-5Oct-2012.html

C E L E B R AT I N G D I S TI N C TIO N • IB F EV EN TS & MEMB ER S H IP

Speakers included:

12 MARCH 2013

ECONOMIC OUTLOOK FOR 2013: WHAT DOES IT
MEAN TO YOU AS A CORPORATE BANKER

T

he second FICS Connect Session was held in March 2013. Entitled “Economic Outlook for 2013:
What Does It Mean To You As A Corporate Banker”, the event focused on the best practices and the
importance of professional development and training for the corporate banking industry.
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12 MARCH 2013

ECONOMIC OUTLOOK FOR 2013: WHAT DOES IT
MEAN TO YOU AS A CORPORATE BANKER (CONT.)

Over 90 industry practitioners who attended this
session heard from a panel of DFICPs and senior
corporate bankers.

Attendees had the opportunity to mingle and network
at the event.

Speakers included:
1. Mr Jimmy Koh, Head of EconomicTreasury Research,
United Overseas Bank Limited;
2. Mr Eric Tham, (Distinguished FICP
2010) Managing Director & Head,
Group Commercial Banking,
United Overseas Bank Limited;
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Video clips of
this event can
be viewed on
the FICS Event
gallery.
http://www.fics.
org.sg/Events/
events-gallery/
event-12Mar-2013.asp

3. Ms Pollie Sim, (Distinguished FICP
2012) CEO, Maybank Singapore;
4. Mr George Lee, (Distinguished
FICP 2007) Executive Vice
President, Head, Global Corporate
Banking, Oversea-Chinese Banking
Corporation Limited;
1

2

3

4

5

5. Mr Amos Tan, (Distinguished
FICP 2013), Managing Director,
Institutional Banking Group,
DBS Bank Ltd.

28 MAY 2013

FICS DISTINCTION EVENING

RAISING COMPETENCIES. INSPIRING EXCELLENCE. CELEBRATING DISTINCTION.

M

r Lawrence Wong, Acting Minister for Culture, Community and Youth, and Board Member of the
Monetary Authority of Singapore was the Guest of Honour at the FICS Distinction Evening. In
his keynote address, Acting Minister emphasised that FICS must remain the bellwether for the
industry and maintain high standards of competency expected of every financial services practitioner.
Acting Minister Lawrence Wong also presided over the conferment of the Distinguished Financial Industry
Certified Professional (DFICP) and Friends of FICS Awards that evening. The “Distinguished FICP” title
is the highest certification mark for a financial practitioner in Singapore under the FICS framework. The
recipients of the DFICP title are significant role models who embody professional competence and serve
as a beacon of excellence for the financial industry.
A number of outstanding Singaporeans were among the ten senior financial sector leaders who were
conferred the DFICP title this year. This dovetails with the Government’s recent call for financial institutions
to develop a strong Singapore core of specialists and leaders in finance.
The evening also saw Acting Minister Wong bestowing the 2013 FICS Inspire Award to Credit Suisse AG
for its outstanding contributions in supporting the extensive roll-out of FICS competency programmes
in the bank. The FICS Aspire Award was conferred on Mr Eugene Tan Kok Wei, while the FICS Inspiring
Educator Award went to International Compliance Association.

Celebrating
Distinction

“FICS must remain the bellwether for the industry and
maintain the high standards of competency expected
of every financial services practitioner. It is no longer
sufficient to just provide “on-the-job” training – there
is an urgent need to ensure that new entrants undergo
structured training and acquire basic competencies
before they are admitted into the industry.”
Lawrence Wong | Acting Minister for Culture,
Community and Youth and Board Member,
Monetary Authority of Singapore

Over 350 senior financial practitioners came to
celebrate industry excellence.

C E L E B R AT I N G D I S TI N C TIO N • IB F EV EN TS & MEMB ER S H IP

FICS DISTINCTION EVENING

Information
about the FICS
Award Winners
and a video
clip of the gala
dinner can be
found at http://
www.fics.org.sg/
Events/eventsgallery/event28-May-2013.
html

Inspiring
Excellence

Mr Lawrence Wong, Acting Minister for Culture, Community and Youth and Board Member, Monetary
Authority of Singapore and Mr Wee Ee Cheong, Vice Chairman of IBF Council and Deputy Chairman
and CEO of United Overseas Bank Limited with the recipients of the Distinguished FICP and Friends
of FICS Awards.

Read interviews
by the FICS
Award Winners at
http://www.fics.
org.sg/News/
InthePress.asp
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IBF MEMBERS
Total number of members as of 31 Dec 2012 was 169
Institution Type

Financial Institutions

Capital Markets Services Licence Holders

Aberdeen Asset Management Asia Ltd
AL Wealth Partners Pte Ltd
AmFraser Securities Pte Ltd
Amundi Singapore Ltd
APS Asset Management Pte Ltd
BNP Paribas Securities (Singapore) Pte Ltd
Cambridge Industrial Trust Management Ltd
CIMB Securities (Singapore) Pte Ltd
Citigroup Global Markets Singapore Pte Ltd
CMC Markets Singapore Pte Ltd
Credit Suisse Securities (Singapore) Pte Ltd
DBS Vickers Securities Group
DMG & Partners Securities Pte Ltd
First State Investments (Singapore)
G.K. Goh Financial Services (S) Pte Ltd
IIFL Securities Pte Ltd
Instinet Singapore Services Pte Ltd
Lim & Tan Securities Pte Ltd
Lion Global Investors Limited
Macquarie Capital Securities (Singapore) Pte Ltd
Marcuard Asia Pte Ltd
Maybank Kim Eng Securities Pte Ltd
Mitsubishi UFJ Trust International Limited
Mizuho Securities (Singapore) Pte Ltd
Newedge Financial Singapore Pte Ltd
Nikko Asset Management Asia Limited
Nomura Asset Management Singapore Limited
OCBC Securities Private Limited
Ong First Tradition Pte Ltd
Pheim Asset Management (Asia) Pte Ltd
Phillip Futures Pte Ltd
Phillip Securities Pte Ltd
PineBridge Investments Singapore Limited
RBC Investor Services Trust Singapore Limited
Schroder Investment Management (Singapore) Ltd
State Street Global Advisors Singapore Limited
UOB Asset Management Ltd
UOB Bullion and Futures Limited
UOB Kay Hian Private Limited
Wellington International Management Company Pte Ltd
Western Asset Management Company Pte Ltd

Exchange Holding Company
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Singapore Exchange Ltd

Hong Leong Finance Limited
Sing Investments & Finance Limited
Singapura Finance Ltd

Financial Adviser’s Licence Holders

finexis advisory Pte Ltd
IPP Financial Advisers Pte Ltd
Javelin Wealth Management Pte Ltd

Foreign Full Banks

Australia & New Zealand Banking Group Limited
Bangkok Bank Public Company Limited
Bank of America, National Association
Bank of China Limited
Bank of India
BNP Paribas
CIMB Bank Berhad
Citibank N.A.
Credit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank
HL Bank
ICICI Bank Limited
Indian Bank
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Finance Companies

Indian Overseas Bank
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.
Maybank
Mizuho Corporate Bank, Ltd
PT Bank Negara Indonesia (Persero) TBK
RHB Bank Berhad
Standard Chartered Bank
State Bank of India
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation
The Bank of East Asia Ltd
The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd (Singapore Branch)
The Hongkong & Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
UCO Bank
Insurers

AXA Financial Services (Singapore) Pte Ltd
Manulife (Singapore) Pte Ltd

Local Banks

Bank of Singapore Limited
DBS Bank Ltd
Far Eastern Bank Ltd
Oversea Chinese Banking Corporation Limited
United Overseas Bank Ltd

Merchant Banks

Asean Finance Corporation Limited
Bank Pictet & Cie (Asia) Ltd
Bordier & Cie (Singapore) Ltd
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BSI Bank Ltd
Coutts & Co Ltd
Credit Suisse (Singapore) Limited
Daiwa Capital Markets Singapore Limited
DZ PRIVATBANK Singapore Limited
EFG Bank AG
LGT Bank (Singapore) Ltd
Lloyds TSB Merchant Bank Limited
Lombard Odier Darier Hentsch & Cie (Singapore) Ltd
Merrill Lynch International Bank Limited (Merchant Bank)
Mitsubishi UFJ Securities (Singapore) Limited
Nomura Singapore Limited
Rothschild (Singapore) Limited
Royal Bank of Canada (Asia) Limited
The Bank of Nova Scotia Asia Limited
Toronto Dominion (South East Asia) Ltd
VP Bank (Singapore) Ltd
Offshore Banks

Arab Bank plc
Banque Internationale à Luxembourg Singapore Branch.
Bank Sarasin & Cie AG, Singapore Branch
Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce
Chang Hwa Commercial Bank Ltd
Credit Agricole (Suisse) S.A.
Hang Seng Bank Limited
Krung Thai Bank Public Company Limited
Mitsubishi UFJ Trust & Banking Corporation
Nordea Bank Finland PLC
Philippine National Bank
PT Bank Mandiri (Persero) TBK
Raiffeisen Bank International AG
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ)
Svenska Handelsbanken AB
The Bank of New York Mellon
The Korea Development Bank
The Norinchukin Bank
The Siam Commercial Bank Public Company Ltd
Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Ltd Singapore Branch
Union de Banques Arabes et Francaises
Woori Bank

Others

Ernst & Young LLP
Government of Singapore Investment Corporation Pte Ltd
Guoco Investment Services Pte Ltd
Monetary Authority of Singapore
Portcullis TrustNet (Singapore) Pte Ltd
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Volvo Treasury Asia Ltd
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Arab Banking Corporation (BSC)

Wholesale Banks

ABN AMRO Bank N.V.
Agricultural Bank of China Ltd
Bank Julius Baer & Co Ltd
Bank of Communications Co Ltd
Barclays Bank PLC
BNP Paribas Wealth Management
China Construction Bank Corporation
Chinatrust Commercial Bank Co., Ltd
Commerzbank Aktiengesellschaft
Commonwealth Bank of Australia
Credit Industriel et Commercial
Credit Suisse AG
Deutsche Bank AG
DNB Bank ASA Singapore Branch
DZ Bank AG Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank, Frankfurt
Am Main
First Commercial Bank
First Gulf Bank PJSC
Habib Bank Ltd
HSBC Private Bank (Suisse) S.A.
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
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Representative Offices of Banks

ING Bank N.V.
Korea Exchange Bank
Landesbank Baden-Württemberg
Mega International Commercial Bank Co., Ltd
National Australia Bank Ltd
National Bank of Kuwait S.A.K.
Natixis
Norddeutsche Landesbank Girozentrale
Portigon AG Singapore Branch
Rabobank International Singapore Branch
Société Générale
The Bank of Nova Scotia
The Northern Trust Company
The Royal Bank Of Scotland N.V.
The Royal Bank of Scotland Plc
UBS AG
UniCredit Bank AG
VTB Capital Plc
Westpac Banking Corporation
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Report of the Council Members

T

he Council Members present their annual report together with the audited financial statements
of The Institute of Banking and Finance (the “Institute”) for the financial year ended 31
December 2012.

1.

Council Members
The Council Members in office at the date of this report are:
Representing:

2.

Ravi Menon, Chairman

Monetary Authority of Singapore

Wee Ee Cheong, Vice Chairman

The Association of Banks in Singapore

Samuel Tsien

The Association of Banks in Singapore
(Appointed on 15 April 2012)

Lester Gray

Investment Management Association of Singapore

Magnus Bocker

Singapore Exchange Limited

Karine Kam

Singapore College of Insurance

Ong Chong Tee

Monetary Authority of Singapore

Aw Tuan Kee

Ministry of Education
(Appointed on 16 April 2013)

Goh Eng Ghee

Ministry of Manpower
(Appointed on 16 April 2013)

Piyush Gupta

Local Bank Representative

Raymond Ferguson

Foreign Bank Representative

Shirish Apte

Foreign Bank Representative
(Appointed on 15 April 2012)

Derek Teo

General Insurance Association of Singapore

Christopher Ho Siow Soong

Singapore Reinsurers’ Association

Philip Lee Sooi Chuen

The Association of Banks of Singapore
(Appointed on 1 November 2012)

Guan Yeow Kwang

The Singapore Foreign Exchange Market Committee
(Appointed on 1 November 2012)

Council Members’ Contractual Benefits
No Council Member has received or become entitled to receive benefits by reason of a contract
made by the Institute with the Council Member or with a firm of which he is a member, or with
a company in which he has a substantial financial interest.

3.

Share Capital and Options
The Institute has no share capital and as such the provisions of Section 201(6)(f), 201(6)(g),
201(8), 201(11), 201(12)(a) and (b) of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”)
are not applicable.

4.

Auditor
Ernst & Young LLP have expressed their willingness to accept reappointment as auditor.
On behalf of the Council Members,
Ravi Menon
Chairman
Wee Ee Cheong
Vice-Chairman
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Singapore
21 May 2013

I

n the opinion of the Council Members, the financial statements are drawn up, so as to give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Institute as at 31 December 2012 and of the results,
changes in members’ funds and cash flows of the Institute for the financial year ended on that
date, and at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Institute will
be able to pay its liabilities as and when they fall due.
On behalf of the Council Members,
Ravi Menon
Chairman
Wee Ee Cheong
Vice-Chairman
Singapore
21 May 2013
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STATEMENT OF Council Members
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Independent Auditor’s Report

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012
To the Council Members of The Institute of Banking and Finance
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of The Institute of Banking and Finance (the
“Institute”), which comprise the statement of fund balances, assets and liabilities as at 31 December
2012, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in members’ funds and cash
flow statement for the financial year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”), the Singapore
Charities Act, Chapter 37 (the “Charities Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards, and for
devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable
assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions
are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair
profit and loss accounts and balance sheets and to maintain accountability of assets.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the
Act, the Charities Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Institute as at 31 December 2012 and of the results, changes in members’ fund
and cash flows of the Institute for the financial year ended on that date.
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Institute have been
properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

Ernst & Young LLP
Public Accountants and
Certified Public Accountants
Singapore
21 May 2013
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FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012
Notes

2012

2011

S$

S$

Income
Fees from courses and examinations
Funding on development cost

4,095,058
9

1,571,581

396,679

−

−

229

Members’ subscriptions

61,450

61,450

Sale of publications

78,007

41,885

−

700

Interest income on bank deposits

Entrance fees from new members
Fair values change on investments
Sundry receipts
Gain on disposal of fixed asset
Total income

2,412,972

–

210,385

78,027

120

−

7,254,671

1,753,872

268,656

257,696

2,640,935

2,278,926

279,072

279,072

74,039

85,716

Expenditure
Printing and miscellaneous expenses
for courses and examinations
Salaries and staff expenses

11

Office rental
Depreciation of plant and equipment
Professional fees

4

4,710

37,200

Electricity, telephone and postages

20,811

20,020

Data processing

50,694

21,534

Repairs and maintenance

4,369

5,681

Printing, stationery and periodicals

6,543

5,946

Rental of copiers

3,360

3,360

29,480

33,351

−

2,051,541

Total expenditure

3,382,669

5,080,043

Total comprehensive income for the year

3,872,002

(3,326,171)

Other administrative expenses
Fair values change on investments

R EPO R T O F THE C OUN C I L M E M B E R S & A U D ITE D F IN A N C IA L S TATE MENTS

Statement of Comprehensive Income

There is no other comprehensive income for the financial years ended 31 December 2012 and 31
December 2011.

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory information form an integral part of the financial
statements.
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Statement of Fund Balances,
Assets and Liabilities
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2012

Notes

2012

2011

S$

S$

Members’ Funds
Income and expenditure account

26,654,863

22,782,861

71,850

140,773

540

540

26,029,206

23,616,234

473

473

91,403

72,278

Represented by:
Plant and equipment

4

Current assets
Inventories
Investments

5

Accrued members’ subscriptions
Accounts receivables
Other receivables and prepayments
Cash and cash equivalents

6
13

Total current assets

300,895

184,399

2,560,879

801,329

28,983,396

24,675,253

1,024,338

297,103

236,055

318,775

143,443

22,561

Current liabilities
Payables

7

Advance fees for courses and examinations
FICS grant

8

Operating grant

9

Total current liabilities
Net current assets

−

396,679

1,403,836

1,035,118

27,579,560

23,640,135

996,547

998,047

26,654,863

22,782,861

Non-current liabilities
Members’ funding contributions
Net assets
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10

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory information form an integral part of the financial
statements.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012
S$
Balance at 1 January 2011

26,109,032

Total comprehensive income

(3,326,171)

Balance at 1 January 2012

22,782,861

Total comprehensive income
Balance at 31 December 2012

3,872,002
26,654,863

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory information form an integral part of the financial
statements.
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Statement of Changes in
Members’ Funds
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Cash Flow Statement

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012
Notes

2012

2011

S$

S$

Cash flows from operating activities
Total comprehensive income

3,872,002

(3,326,171)

(2,412,972)

2,051,541

74,039

85,716

−

(229)

1,533,069

(1,189,143)

Adjustments for:
Fair values change on investments
Depreciation
Interest income
Operating profit/(loss) before working capital
changes
Inventories
Accounts receivables
Other receivables and prepayments

−

225

(19,125)

(54,159)

(116,496)

233,422

Payables

727,235

(1,422)

Advance fees for courses and examinations

(82,720)

284,635

FICS grant

120,882

(27,936)

Operating grant

(396,679)

−

Cash flows from/(used in) operating activities

1,766,166

(754,378)

–

252

1,766,166

(754,126)

(5,116)

(197,691)

1,761,050

(197,691)

Interest received
Net cash flows generated from/(used in) operating
activities
Cash flows from investing activity
Purchase of plant and equipment

4

Net cash flows generated from/(used in) investing
activity
Cash flows from financing activities
Contributions by members

−

38,400

(1,500)

(8,500)

Interest earned and credited to operating grant

−

782

Net cash flows (used in)/generated from financing
activities

(1,500)

30,682

1,759,550

(921,135)

801,329

1,722,464

2,560,879

801,329

Refund of contributions to members

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents for the year
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

13

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory information form an integral part of the financial
statements.
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FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial
statements.
1.

Corporate information
The Institute of Banking and Finance (the “Institute”) is a company limited by guarantee incorporated
in Singapore.
The registered office of the Institute is located at 10 Shenton Way #13-07/08, MAS Building,
Singapore 079117.
The principal activities of the Institute are the organisation and conduct of appropriate activities
and services to promote continuous learning and the highest standards of workforce competency
across the financial services sector. This encompasses administering part of the Capital Markets
and Financial Advisory Services (“CMFAS”) examination series on behalf of the Monetary Authority
of Singapore (“MAS”), provision of Continuing Education Programmes for Trading Representatives
(“CEPTR”) courses and arranging, promoting and conducting seminars, conferences and workshops
relating to the talent issues of the financial sector. The Institute is also the national accreditation and
certification agency for financial industry competency under the Financial Industrial Competency
Standards (“FICS”) framework.
The Institute administers the Financial Sector Development Fund (“FSDF”)’s FICS funding
scheme, introduced on 12 June 2006 to support training and assessment fees for FICS-accredited
programmes, on behalf of the MAS.

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1

Basis of preparation
The financial statements of the Institute have been prepared in accordance with the Singapore
Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”).
The financial statements, which are presented in Singapore dollars (“SGD” or “S$”), have been
prepared on a historical cost basis, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.

2.2
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Changes in accounting policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except
in the current financial year, the Institute has adopted all the new and revised standards and
Interpretations of FRS (“INT FRS”) that are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2012. The adoption of these standards and interpretations did not have any effect on the
financial performance or position of the Institute.

2.3

Standards issued but not yet effective
The Institute has not adopted the following standards and interpretations that have been issued but
are not yet effective:

Description
Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive
Income

Effective for annual periods
beginning on or after

1 July 2012

Revised FRS 19 Employee Benefits

1 January 2013

FRS 113 Fair Value Measurement

1 January 2013

Amendments to FRS 107 Disclosures - Offsetting Financial Assets
and Financial Liabilities

1 January 2013

Improvements to FRSs 2012

1 January 2013
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012
2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.3

Standards issued but not yet effective (cont’d)
- Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

1 January 2013

- Amendments to FRS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment

1 January 2013

- Amendments to FRS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation

1 January 2013

Revised FRS 27 Separate Financial Statements

1 January 2014

Revised FRS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

1 January 2014

FRS 110 Consolidated Financial Statements

1 January 2014

FRS 111 Joint Arrangements

1 January 2014

FRS 112 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

1 January 2014

Amendments to FRS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities

1 January 2014

The Council Members expect that the adoption of the standards and interpretations above will have
no material impact on the financial statements in the period of initial application.
2.4

Functional currency
The Council Members have determined the currency of the primary economic environment in which
the Institute operates i.e., functional currency, to be SGD. Fees and major costs of providing services
including major operating expenses are denominated primarily in SGD.
Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in currencies other than SGD are treated as transactions in foreign currencies and are
recorded at exchange rates approximating those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates ruling at the
end of the reporting period. Non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated using the exchange
rates ruling at the transaction dates or, in the case of items carried at fair value, the exchange rates
that existed when the fair values were determined. All resultant exchange differences are recognised
in profit or loss.

2.5

Plant and equipment
All items of plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. The cost of an item of plant and
equipment is recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Institute and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably.
Subsequent to recognition, plant and equipment and furniture and fixtures are measured at cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. When significant parts of plant
and equipment are required to be replaced in intervals, the Institute recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciation, respectively. Likewise, when a major
inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment
as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are
recognised in profit or loss when incurred.
Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:
Furniture and fittings		
Computers and equipment
Renovations			

-

5 years
3 to 5 years
3 years

The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying values may not be recoverable.
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FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012
2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.5

Plant and equipment (cont’d)
The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year end and
adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.
An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on derecognition of the asset is included in
profit or loss in the financial year the asset is derecognised.

2.6

Impairment of non-financial assets
The Institute assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is an indication that an
asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment assessment for an
asset is required, the Institute makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less
costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset are discounted to their
present value. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is
considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss in those expense categories consistent with the
function of the impaired asset, except for assets that are previously re-valued where the revaluation
was taken to other comprehensive income. In this case the impairment is also recognised in other
comprehensive income up to the amount of any previous revaluation.
An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is any indication
that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such
indication exists, the Institute estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increase cannot exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss
been recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is measured
at re-valued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.

2.7
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial assets
Financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the Institute becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instruments. The Institute determines the classification of its financial
assets at initial recognition.
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of
financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.
A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset
has expired. On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and any cumulative gains or losses that have been
recognised directly in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.
All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised or derecognised on the trade
date i.e., the date that the Institute commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace concerned.
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

49

IB F A n n u al R ep o rt 2 0 1 2

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012
2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.7

Financial assets (cont’d)

a)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets classified as held-for-trading.
Financial assets classified as held-for-trading are derivatives (including separated embedded
derivatives) or are acquired principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term.
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured
at fair value. Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of the financial assets are
recognised in profit or loss. Net gains or net losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss include exchange differences, interest and dividend income.

b)

Loans and receivables
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market are classified as loans and receivables. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and
receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less impairment.
Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised or
impaired and through the amortisation process.

2.8

Impairment of financial assets
The Institute assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence
that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired:

a)

Assets carried at amortised cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortised cost
has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an
allowance account. The impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.
When the asset becomes uncollectible, the carrying amount of impaired financial assets is reduced
directly or if an amount was charged to the allowance account, the amounts charged to the allowance
account are written-off against the carrying values of the financial assets.
To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has
been incurred, the Institute considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant
financial difficulties of the debtor and default or significant delay in payments.
If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its
amortised cost at the reversal date. The amount of reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

b)

Assets carried at cost
If there is objective evidence (such as significant adverse changes in the business environment
where the issuer operates, probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the issuer)
that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at cost has been incurred, the amount of the
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial
asset. Such impairment losses are not reversed in subsequent periods.
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FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012
2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.9

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash at bank and fixed
deposits, less balances segregated for customers and related companies that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
Cash and bank balances carried in the statement of fund balances, assets and liabilities are classified
and accounted for as loans and receivables under FRS 39. The accounting policy for this category
of financial assets is stated in Note 2.7.

2.10 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Institute has a present obligation (legal or constructive) where,
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation. Where the Institute expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement
is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense
relating to any provisions are presented in the statement of fund balances, assets and liabilities net
of any reimbursement.
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best
estimate. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation, the provisions are reversed.
2.11 Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Institute becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the financial instruments. The Institute determines the classification of its
financial liabilities at initial recognition.
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, plus, in the case of financial liabilities
not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:
a)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held-for-trading and
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss. Financial
liabilities are classified as held-for-trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near
term. This category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Institute that are
not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships. Separated embedded derivatives are
also classified as held-for-trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments.
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are measured
at fair value. Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of the financial liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss.

b)

Other financial liabilities
After initial recognition, other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised, and through the amortisation process.
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled
or expired. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of
a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

51

IB F A n n u al R ep o rt 2 0 1 2

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012
2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.12 Employee benefits
a)

Defined contribution plan
As required by law, the Institute makes contributions to the state defined contribution pension
scheme, the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”) for employees in Singapore. These contributions are
recognised as compensation expenses in the same period as the employment that gives rise to the
contributions.

b)

Employee leave entitlement
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as a liability when they accrue to employees.
A provision is made for the estimated liability for leave as a result of services rendered by employees
up to the end of the reporting period.

2.13 Leases
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as a
reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis.
2.14 Revenue
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to
the Institute and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of
consideration received or receivable.
a)

Fees from courses and examinations
Fees from courses and examinations are recognised when the courses or examinations are
completed.

b)

Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the period of placement of deposit.

c)

Income from sale of publications
Income from sale of publications is recognised when significant risks and rewards of ownership are
transferred to the buyer and the amount of income and costs of the transactions can be measured
reliably.

d)

Other income
All other income is recognised on an accrual basis.

2.15 Income tax
All registered and exempt charities are exempted from income tax automatically.
2.16 Operating grant
The operating grant received to meet the operating expenses incurred for a specific annual training
programme, was recognised over a period of five years from 1990 to 1995. The remaining balance
in the unused grant was subsequently utilised for the purposes of funding the FICS costs.
2.17 Investments
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Investments are classified as financial assets at fair value through income and expenditure and
are measured at subsequent end of the reporting periods at fair value. Gains or losses arising from
changes in fair value are included in income and expenditure for the financial year.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012
2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.18 Receivables
Trade and other receivables, including amounts due from related companies are classified and
accounted for as loans and receivables under FRS 39. The accounting policy for this category of
financial assets is stated in Note 2.7.
An allowance is made for uncollectible amounts when there is objective evidence that the Institute
will not be able to collect the debt. Bad debts are written-off when identified. Details on the
accounting policy for impairment of financial assets are stated in Note 2.8.
2.19 Payables
Liabilities for trade and other amounts payable, which are settled on 30 to 90 days’ terms and
payables to related parties are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the amortisation process.
3.

Significant accounting judgements and estimates
The preparation of the Institute’s financial statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the end of each reporting period. However,
uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a
material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the future periods.
The fair value of investments is determined in good faith by the Investment Manager after taking
into consideration the cost of investments, the quoted prices of securities of comparable publicly
traded companies and market conditions. The management has accepted the fair value of these
investments. Because of the inherent uncertainty of valuation, those estimated values may differ
significantly from the values that would have been used had a ready market for the securities existed
and the difference could be material to the financial statements.
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4.	Plant and equipment
Furniture and
fittings

Computers and
equipment

Renovations

Total

S$

S$

S$

S$

284,580

127,093

488,355

Cost
At 31 December 2010 and
at 1 January 2011

76,682

Additions

3,675

42,605

151,411

197,691

Disposals

–

(21,300)

(76,386)

(97,686)

80,357

305,885

202,118

588,360

At 31 December 2011 and
at 1 January 2012
Additions

−

5,116

−

5,116

Disposals

–

(3,780)

−

(3,780)

80,357

307,221

202,118

589,696

At 31 December 2010 and
at 1 January 2011

58,928

273,536

127,093

459,557

Depreciation charge for 2011

14,300

20,946

50,470

85,716

–

(21,300)

(76,386)

(97,686)

73,228

273,182

101,177

447,587

4,132

19,436

50,471

74,039

–

(3,780)

−

(3,780)

77,360

288,838

151,648

517,846

At 31 December 2011

7,129

32,703

100,941

140,773

At 31 December 2012

2,997

18,383

50,470

71,850

At 31 December 2012
Accumulated depreciation

Disposals
At 31 December 2011 and
at 1 January 2012
Depreciation charge for 2012
Disposals
At 31 December 2012
Net book value
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5.

Investments
Investments comprise funds placed with an investment manager for discretionary management and
are classified as held-for-trading.
At the end of the reporting period, the composition of the funds under management and their
indicative fair values are as follows:
Assets

Fixed income investments
Forward foreign exchange contracts
(Note 14)
Equities
Future contracts
Cash and cash equivalents placed with
Investment Manager
At fair value

2012

2011

S$

S$

15,090,679

13,910,943

12,357

(51,416)

8,291,392

6,704,034

28,196

–

23,422,624

20,563,561

2,606,582

3,052,673

26,029,206

23,616,234

The Institute’s investments excluding forward foreign exchange contracts (Note 14) that are not
denominated in the functional currency are as follows:
Denominated in:
- Indonesian rupiah

243,645

231,231

- Thai baht

305,841

200,231

1,783,572

1,730,470

257,768

313,431

- United States dollars

6,786,130

6,829,062

- Hong Kong dollars

2,712,197

1,656,069

- Australia dollars

1,705,332

2,934,214

- Taiwan dollars
- Philippine pesos

- Korean won

249,355

1

- Malaysia ringgit

616,909

1,137,383
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During the current financial year, a management fee of S$60,000 (2011: S$60,000) was paid to
the Investment Manager. A Council Member of the Institute is a member of the senior management
of the group of companies of which the Investment Manager is a part of.
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6.	Other receivables and prepayments
These comprise:
2012

2011

S$

S$

Security deposits

71,838

71,668

Prepaid expenses

28,052

24,924

FSDF funding receivable

21,059

83,023

Other debtors

179,946

4,784

Total

300,895

184,399

The Institute’s other receivables and prepayments are denominated in the functional currency of the
Institute.
7.	Payables
These comprise:
Accrued expenses

280,616

244,166

Trade payables

263,402

52,937

Provisions
Total

480,320

−

1,024,338

297,103

Trade payables, accrued expenses and provisions principally comprise amounts outstanding for
trade purchases, operating expenses and provisions for bonuses and leave entitlement.
The Institute’s payables are denominated in the functional currency of the Institute.
8.

FICS grant
The Institute received the grant from MAS for the Financial Industrial Competency Standards
(“FICS”) accredited programmes. This grant is to support the training and assessment fees for FICS
accredited programmes. Any unutilised grant should be returned to MAS at the end of the funding
scheme. This grant is repayable upon demand.

9.	Operating grant
In 1990, the Institute received from Nomura Singapore Ltd (“Nomura”) an operating grant of
S$1,000,000 to fund an annual training programme on investment management in Singapore for
a period of five years. However, Nomura has agreed to allow the Institute to retain the balance in
the unused grant for future use by the Institute. In 2012, with the Council Members approval, the
Institute has drawn down the remaining balance of the operating grant previously held as fixed
deposits. This was used to cover its operating expenses.
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9.	Operating grant (cont’d)
2012

2011

S$

S$

Balance at beginning of year

396,679

395,897

Movements during the year:
Interest received on fixed deposits
Draw down for funding on development cost

−

782

(396,679)

−

−

396,679

Balance at end of year

The operating grant is denominated in the functional currency of the Institute.
10.

Members’ funding contributions
These represent amounts contributed by members when they were admitted to the Institute. The
contributions are refundable to the members when they cease to be members of the Institute.

11.

Salaries and staff expenses
Costs of defined contribution plans
included in salaries and staff expenses

277,489

Costs of utilised leave included in
salaries and staff expenses
Balance at end of year

225,505

68,300

−

345,789

225,505

Compensation of key management personnel
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The remuneration of members of key management during the financial year was as follows:
169,919

Short-term benefits
12.

120,683

Income tax expense
The Institute is registered as a charity under the Charity Act and is exempted from income tax, under
Section 13M(2)(b) of the Income Tax Act, Cap. 134.

13.

Cash and cash equivalents

Fixed deposits

2012

2011

S$

S$
−

313,513

Cash at bank

2,560,879

487,816

Total

2,560,879

801,329

Fixed deposits bear interest at an average rate of Nil% (2011: 0.18%) per annum and are for a tenor
of approximately 30 days (2011: 30 days).
The Institute’s cash and bank balances are denominated in the functional currency of the
Institute.
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14.

Financial derivative contracts
As at the end of the reporting period, the Institute has investments in the following outstanding
financial derivative contracts which were transacted to manage its currency exposure arising from
the Institute’s investments:
Forward foreign exchange contracts:
Notional principal:
Sell

9,492,415

8,812,792

Buy

9,492,415

8,761,376

The total gross positive fair value of the outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts is S$12,357
(2011: -S$51,416) (Note 5).
15.	Operating lease commitment

Minimum lease payments paid under
operating lease

2012

2011

S$

S$

279,072

282,432

At the end of the reporting period, commitments in respect of operating lease for the rental of office
premises were as follows:
Within one year

72,298

282,432

In the second to fifth year inclusive

13,570

74,348

85,868

356,780

The Institute’s operating lease payments are negotiated for an average term of 2 years and rentals
are fixed for an average of 2 years.

58

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012
16.

Fair value of investments
The Institute designates its investments at fair value through profit or loss because the investments
are managed and its performance evaluated on a fair value basis.
As at 31 December 2012, financial assets carried at fair value consists of investments placed with
an investment manager:
Quoted prices
in active
markets for
identical
instruments

Significant
other
observable
inputs

Significant
unobservable
inputs

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

S$

S$

S$

S$

2012
Investments:
Fixed income investments

–

15,090,679

−

15,090,679

28,196

−

−

28,196

–

12,357

−

12,357

8,291,392

–

−

8,291,392

8,319,588

15,103,036

−

23,422,624

Fixed income investments

–

13,910,943

−

13,910,943

Forward foreign exchange
contracts

–

(51,416)

−

(51,416)

6,704,034

–

−

6,704,034

6,704,034

13,859,527

−

20,563,561

Future contracts
Forward foreign exchange
contracts
Equities

2011
Investments:

Equities
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Fair value hierarchy
The Institute classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the
following levels:
Level 1 Level 2 		
		
Level 3 		

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the
assets or liabilities, either directly (i.e., as prices) or in directly (i.e., derived from
prices); and
Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data (i.e.,
unobservable inputs).

Determination of fair value
Fixed income investments and forward foreign exchange contracts: Fair value is determined
indirectly using a valuation technique with market observable inputs. The valuation is applied by
the Investment Manager.
Equities: Fair value is determined directly by reference to their published market bid price at the
end of the reporting period.
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17.

Financial assets and liabilities by categories
The carrying amounts of the following categories of financial instruments are as follows:
2012

2011

S$

S$

Financial assets:
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss:
- designated as such upon initial
recognition
Loans and receivables

26,029,206

23,616,234

2,925,598

1,059,019

28,954,804

24,675,253

1,084,140

1,035,118

Financial liabilities:
Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss:
Financial liabilities measured at
amortised cost
18.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (excluding investments)
The Institute is exposed to financial risks arising from its operations and the use of financial
instruments. The key financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and foreign
currency risk. The Council Members review and agree policies and procedures for the management
of these risks, which are executed by the Chief Executive Officer.
The following sections provide details regarding the Institute’s exposure to the above-mentioned
financial risks and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks:

a)

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty
default on its obligations. The Institute’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from accounts
receivables and other receivables. For other financial assets (including investment securities and
cash and cash equivalents), the Institute minimises credit risk by dealing exclusively with high
credit rating counterparties.
Exposure to credit risk
The Institute does not have credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of
counterparties having similar characteristics.
The carrying amounts of financial assets recorded in the accounts represent the Institute’s maximum
exposure to credit risk.
Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired
Accounts receivables and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy
individual members with good payment record with the Institute. Cash and cash equivalents,
investment securities and derivatives that are neither past due nor impaired are placed with or
entered into with reputable financial institutions or companies with high credit ratings and no
history of default.
Financial assets that are past due but not impaired
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18.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (excluding investments) (cont’d)

b)

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Institute will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations
due to shortage of funds. The Institute’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches
of the maturities of financial assets and liabilities. The Institute’s objective is to maintain a balance
between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of stand-by credit facilities.
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Institute’s financial liabilities at the end of the
reporting period based on carrying values which approximate the contractual undiscounted amount:
1 year or less

Total

S$

S$

2012
Financial liabilities
Payables

544,018

544,018

FICS grant

143,443

143,443

−

−

687,461

687,461

Payables

297,103

297,103

Other liabilities

318,775

318,775

22,561

22,561

396,679

396,679

1,035,118

1,035,118

Operating grant

2011
Financial liabilities

FICS grant
Operating grant

c)

Interest rate risk
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Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Institute’s financial
instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. All the financial assets and
liabilities at financial year end bear no interest rate risk except for cash and fixed deposits for the
financial year.
Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk
At the end of the reporting period, if SGD interest rates had been 78 (2011: 75) basis points lower/
higher with all other variables held constant, the Institute’s excess of income over expenditure for
the financial year would have been S$Nil (2011: S$8) higher/lower, arising mainly as a result of
higher/lower interest income from fixed deposits.
d)

Foreign currency risk
The Institute faces minimal foreign currency risks as its assets and liabilities are denominated
primarily in SGD.

19.

Funds management
The primary objective of the Institute’s fund management is to ensure that it maintains an optimal
level of capital to continue as a going concern. Policies are set to ensure that the capital maintained
is adequate to support business model.

20.

Authorisation of financial statements
The financial statements of the Institute for the financial year ended 31 December 2012 were
authorised for issue by the Council Members on 21 May 2013.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

N

OTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the 38th Annual General Meeting of The Institute of Banking and
Finance (the “Institute”) will be held at the MAS Penthouse, Level 30, 10 Shenton Way, MAS
Building, Singapore 079117 on Friday, 28 June 2013 at 9.30 a.m. for the purpose of transacting
the following ordinary business of the Institute:
Agenda
1. To receive and consider the Council’s Report and Audited Accounts of the Institute for the year ended
31 December 2012 together with the Auditors’ Report thereon.
2. To re-appoint Ernst & Young LLP as auditors of the Institute and to authorise the Council Members to
fix their remuneration.
3. To transact such other ordinary business as may be properly transacted at an Annual General
Meeting.
By Order Of The Council

Mr David Chong Keen Loon
and Ms Leong Yoke Yeng
Secretary
11 June 2013

Note:
(1) A member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”) is entitled to
appoint not more than two proxies to attend and vote on his behalf. A proxy need not be a Member of
the Institute.
(2) The instrument appointing a proxy, must be deposited at the registered office of the Institute at
10 Shenton Way, #13-07/08 MAS Building, Singapore 079117 not less than forty-eight hours (48)
before the time appointed for holding the Meeting.
(3) A corporation which is a Member of the Institute may, by resolution of its directors, authorise any
person to act as its representative at the Meeting of the Institute, and such representative shall be
entitled to exercise the same powers on behalf of the corporation which he represents as if he had been
an individual member of the Institute.
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PROXY FORM
The Institute Of Banking And Finance

We ________________________________________________________________________________________
name of member
of _________________________________________________________________________________________
registered address
___________________________________________________________ Singapore ______________________
being a member of The Institute of Banking and Finance (the “Institute”) hereby appoint
___________________________________________________________________________________________
name of individual
___________________________________________________________________________________________
designation
or failing him _______________________________________________________________________________
name of individual
___________________________________________________________________________________________
designation
as our proxy to vote for us on our behalf at the 38th Annual General Meeting of the Institute to be held
at the MAS Penthouse, Level 30, 10 Shenton Way, MAS Building, Singapore 079117 on Friday, 28 June
2013 at 9.30 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof.
As witness our hand this _______________________________ day of ________________________2013.

_______________________________
Director

_______________________________
Director / Secretary
An instrument appointing a proxy must be lodged at the Registered Office of the Institute at 10 Shenton Way,
#13-07/08 MAS Building, Singapore 079117, not later than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the annual
general meeting or any adjournment thereof.
The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointer or his attorney duly authorized in
writing. Where the instrument is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its common seal or under
the hand of its officer or attorney duly authorised.
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Ms Ong Puay See
Chief Executive Officer
Ernst & Young LLP
Public Accountants and
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